New Jersey Motorcycle Insurance Policy

Rider Insurance Company 581 Main Street, Suite 400, Woodbridge, NJ 07095

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Insuring Agreement	3
Policy Definitions	3
Part A: Liability Coverage	4
Part B: Medical Payments	7
Part C: Pedestrian Personal Injury Protection	9
Part D: Coverage For Damage to Your Vehicle	16
Part E: Uninsured and Underinsured Motorists Coverage	20
Part F: Duties After an Accident or Loss	25
Part G: General Provisions	26

Assignment

Bankruptcy

Cancellation or Non-Renewal of this Policy

Changes

Concealment or Fraud

Our Recovery Rights

Policy Period

Premium

Proof of Mailing

Suit Against Us

INSURING AGREEMENT

We agree with you, in return for your premium payment, to insure you subject to the terms of this policy.

We will insure you for the coverages and limits of liability for which a premium is shown in the **Declarations** of this policy.

POLICY DEFINITIONS

The **bolded** terms in this Policy Definitions section shall have the meanings provided below, which shall apply throughout this Policy, including when the word or phrase is used in its singular, plural or possessive form.

- A. **All-terrain** vehicle means a small, open motor vehicle having three or more wheels fitted with large low pressure tires, a seat that is straddled by the operator, and handlebars for steering control. It is designed chiefly for recreational use over roadless, rugged terrain.
- B. **Bodily injury** means bodily harm. It also includes sickness, disease or death but only which results from bodily harm.
- C. **Declarations** means the most recent document **we** have issued to **you** for this Policy that lists the types of coverage **you** have selected, the limits for each coverage, the premium for the Policy, the vehicles **we** agree to insure, the period of coverage and other Policy information.
- D. **Motorcycle** means a motor vehicle with motive power having a seat or saddle for the use of the rider, designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground. For coverage limited to Part A: Liability Coverage only, **motorcycle** also means a two wheeled motorized vehicle of the moped or motor scooter type.
- E. Motor vehicle business means the business or occupation of selling, repairing, servicing, storing or parking vehicles.
- F. **Occupying** means in, on, getting onto or off of.
- G. Passenger means any person other than the operator of your insured motorcycle, occupying it or a sidecar attached to it.
- H. **Property damage** means physical injury to, destruction of, or loss of use of, tangible property. **Property damage** does not include **diminution in value**.
- I. **Relative or Family member** means a person living in **your** household related to **you** by blood, marriage, a civil union considered valid under New Jersey law, or adoption, including a ward or foster child.
- J. **State** means the District of Columbia, any **state**, territory or possession of the United States and any province of Canada.
- K. Trailer means a vehicle designed to be towed by a motorcycle.
- L. **Utility all-terrain vehicle** means a vehicle with four or more wheels, used exclusively off-road and containing no more than the operator and one passenger. It differs from an **all-terrain vehicle** in that its seat is not straddled by the operator, the passenger sits next to the operator, and it is not steered by handlebars. Under no circumstances does **utility all-terrain vehicle** include private passenger automobiles or any vehicle that is for on- road use.
- M. We, us, and our mean the insurance company shown in the **Declarations** page.
- N. You and your refer to:
 - 1. The named insured shown in the Declarations; and
 - 2. The spouse or partner of a civil union considered valid under New Jersey law if a resident of the same household. If the spouse or partner ceases to be a resident in the same household during the policy period or prior to the inception of this policy, the spouse or partner would be considered **you** and **your** under this policy but only until the earlier of:
 - (a) The end of 90 days following the spouse's or partner's change of residency;
 - (b) The effective date of another policy listing the spouse or partner as the named insured; or
 - (c) The end of the policy.

O. Your insured motorcycle means:

- 1. The motorcycle and/or all-terrain and/or utility all-terrain vehicle described in the Declarations.
- 2. A trailer or sidecar you own when permanently attached to your motorcycle.
- 3. A motorcycle you become the owner of during the policy period if:
 - (a) it replaces the motorcycle described in the Declarations and
 - (b) we insure all motorcycles owned by you on the date you acquire the motorcycle and
 - (c) no insurance policy issued by a company other than us provides coverage for that motorcycle and
 - (d) if **you** want the "Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle" part of this policy to apply, **you** must notify **us** within 5 days after **you** acquire the **motorcycle**.
- 4. A **motorcycle** or **trailer** not owned by **you** while being used as a temporary substitute for a **motorcycle** described in 1. through 3. above because it has broken down, is being repaired, or it is lost or destroyed. **Your** use of the **motorcycle** or **trailer** must be with the consent of its owner.
- 5. A **motorcycle** you become the owner of during the policy period that is in addition to the **motorcycle** described in the **Declarations**. Coverage begins on the date you become the owner, as long as you ask us to insure it within 14 days after you acquire the **motorcycle**. Otherwise coverage will begin when you notify us. It will be covered at the broadest coverage we provide for any motorcycle shown in the **Declarations**, except for coverage under "Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle". You must ask for that coverage if you want it. It is not automatic.
- 6. Under Part A: Liability Coverage any other **motorcycle** which is not owned by **you** or a **relative** or furnished or available for regular use by **you** or a **relative**, and not covered by another liability insurance policy, while being operated by **you** with the owner's permission.

PART A: LIABILITY COVERAGE

INSURING AGREEMENT

We will pay damages for which an **insured person** is legally liable because of **bodily injury** or **property damage** resulting from the ownership, maintenance or use of **your insured motorcycle**. The **bodily injury** or **property damage** must not be expected nor intended from the standpoint of the **insured person**. The **bodily injury** or **property damage** must occur during the policy period.

We will defend any suit or settle any claim asking for damages for **bodily injury** or **property damage** as **we** think appropriate. However, **we** will not defend any suit after **we** have paid the applicable limit or **our** liability for the accident which is the basis of the lawsuit. **We** have no duty to defend any suit or settle any claim for **bodily injury** or **property damage** not covered under this policy.

DEFINITIONS

In addition to the **bolded** terms in the Policy Definitions section, the following **bolded** terms shall have the following meanings provided below for purposes of this Part A: Liability Coverage only, including when the word or phrase is used in its singular, plural or possessive form.

A. **Insured person** means:

- 1. You or a relative
- 2. A person using your insured motorcycle with your permission.
- 3. Any other person or organization with respect only to legal liability for acts or omissions of:
 - (a) a person covered under this part while using your insured motorcycle, or
 - (b) you or a relative covered under this part while using a motorcycle or trailer other than your insured motorcycle if the motorcycle or trailer is not owned or hired by that person or organization and if it is not covered by any other liability insurance policy.

No person shall be considered an **insured** person if that person 1) operates a **motorcycle** and does not have a **motorcycle** license where one is required by **state** law, or 2) uses a vehicle without a reasonable belief of having permission to use the vehicle.

ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS

We will pay on behalf of an insured person in addition to our limit of liability:

- 1. All costs we incur in the settlement of a claim or defense of a suit.
- 2. All court costs assessed against you in our defense of a suit.
- 3. Interest on damages awarded in a suit **we** defend. This coverage applies only to the interest that accrues after a court enters judgement. It does not apply to interest that accrues after **we** have paid **our** limit of liability, offered to pay it or deposited it in court.
- 4. Premiums on appeal and attachment bonds required in a suit **we** defend. **We** will not pay the premium for any bond that is more than **our** limit of liability. **We** have no duty to apply for or furnish bonds.
- 5. Up to \$250.00 for the costs of bail bonds required due to an accident-related traffic law violation resulting in **bodily injury** or **property damage** covered by this part. **We** have no duty to apply for or furnish a bond.
- 6. All reasonable expenses incurred by an **insured person** at **our** request, except their loss of earnings or income.

EXCLUSIONS

You should read the following exclusions carefully. If an exclusion applies, coverage will not be afforded under this Part A: Liability Coverage

- A. Coverage under this Part A: Liability Coverage, including our duty to defend, does not apply to:
 - 1. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** resulting from the ownership, maintenance or use of **your insured motorcycle** when used to carry persons or property for a charge. This exclusion does not apply to a share-the-expense carpool.
 - 2. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** caused intentionally by or at the direction of an **insured person**.
 - 3. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** for which a person is an insured under a nuclear energy liability insurance policy. This exclusion applies even if the limits of that policy are exhausted.
 - 4. **Bodily injury** to an employee of an **insured person** arising in the course of employment by an **insured person**. Coverage does apply to a domestic employee unless benefits are payable or are required to be provided for that employee under a worker's compensation law.
 - 5. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** resulting from **motor vehicle business** operations. Coverage does apply for **you**, a **relative**, or anyone associated with or employed by **you** or a **relative** with respect to the operation of **your insured motorcycle** in the **motor vehicle business**.
 - 6. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** while **your insured motorcycle** is consigned to, or in the care of, anyone for sale.
 - 7. Property damage to property owned or being transported by an insured person.
 - 8. **Property damage** to property rented to, used by or in the care of an **insured person**.
 - Bodily injury or property damage resulting from the abandonment of your insured motorcycle by an insured person.
 - 10. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** resulting from the use of **your insured motorcycle** in, or in practice or preparation for, any race, speed contest, hill climbing exhibition or any other contest or demonstration.
 - 11. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** sustained while **your insured motorcycle** is used on any race course or other facility designed for racing or practicing racing.
 - 12. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** resulting from the use of **your insured motorcycle** in any unlawful trade or transportation.
 - 13. **Bodily injury** or **property damage** resulting from liability assumed by an **insured person** under any contract or agreement.
 - 14. Liability for punitive or exemplary damages.
 - 15. Bodily injury or property damage for which the United States is liable under the Federal Tort Claims Act.

- 16. Bodily injury or property damage arising out of the use of your insured motorcycle while leased or rented to others. However, this exclusion does not apply to the operation of your insured motorcycle by you or a relative.
- 17. Any person who is a named **insured** under the terms of a basic automobile insurance policy issued pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:6A-3.1 or a special insurance policy issued pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:6A-3.3. However, this exclusion does not apply to **you** unless **you** are **occupying**, at the time of the accident, a motor vehicle for which **you** are a named **insured** under the terms of a basic automobile insurance policy or special insurance policy.
- 18. Using a vehicle without a reasonable belief that that operator is entitled to do so, including, but not limited to, a person not licensed to operator a **motorcycle**.
- B. We do not provide liability coverage for the ownership, maintenance or use of
 - 1. Any motorcycle, other than your insured motorcycle, which is:
 - (a) Owned by you or
 - (b) Furnished or available for your regular use.
 - 2. Any motorcycle, other than your insured motorcycle, which is:
 - (a) Owned by any relative or
 - (b) Furnished or available for the regular use of any relative.

However, this exclusion ("B.2") does not apply to your maintenance or use of any vehicle which is:

- (a) Owned by any relative; or
- (b) Furnished or available for the regular use of a **relative**.

CONFORMITY WITH STATE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY LAWS

When **we** certify this policy as proof under a **state** financial responsibility law, it will comply with that law to the extent of the coverage and limits of liability required by that law during the policy period.

OUT OF STATE COVERAGE

- A. If **your insured motorcycle** is being operated temporarily in another **state** and as a result an **insured person** becomes subject to that **state's** motor vehicle compulsory insurance, financial responsibility or similar law, this policy will provide the greater of:
 - 1. The required minimum amounts and types of coverage required by this state; or
 - 2. The limits of liability under this policy.
- B. No one will be entitled to duplicate payments for the same elements of loss.

LIMITS OF LIABILITY

The limits of liability shown on the **Declarations** Page for this Part A: Liability Coverage is the most **we** will pay in damages resulting from any one accident subject to the following:

- A. The **bodily injury** liability for "each person" is the maximum **we** will pay as damages for **bodily injury** sustained by one person in one occurrence. The "each person" limit of liability includes the total of all claims made for **bodily injury** to a person and all claims of others derived from such **bodily injury** including, but not limited to, emotional injury and mental anguish resulting from the **bodily injury** of another or from witnessing the **bodily injury** to another, loss of society, loss of companionship, loss of services, loss of consortium and wrongful death.
- B. Subject to the **bodily injury** liability limit for "each person" the **bodily injury** liability limit for "each occurrence" to two or more persons in one occurrence.
- C. The property damage liability limits for "each occurrence" is the maximum **we** will pay for all damages to property in one occurrence.
- D. We will pay no more than these maximums regardless of the number of vehicles or premiums described in the Declarations, insured persons, claims, claimants, policies, or vehicles involved in the occurrence. Any amount payable under this coverage for an insured person will be reduced by any payment made to that person under the underinsured motorist coverage of this policy.
- E. All **bodily injury** and **property damage** arising out of continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general conditions shall be considered as arising out of one occurrence.
- F. No one will be entitled to duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this Part A: Liability Coverage and Part E: Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists Coverage.
- G. A **motorcycle** and an attached **trailer** are one vehicle. Therefore the limits of liability are not increased.

SEPARATE APPLICATION OF THIS INSURANCE

This insurance applies separately to each **insured person** against whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of **our** liability.

OTHER INSURANCE

Liability insurance on a loss covered by Part A of this policy on **your insured motorcycle** is primary, except as follows. The exception is that insurance **we** provide under Part A of this policy for a **motorcycle you** do not own, or a **motorcycle** owned by **you** or a **relative** that this policy's coverage does not insure, is excess over any other collectible insurance. The term "collectible liability insurance" includes coverage provided by an organization or person through a program of self-insurance permitted by the law of the **state** in which the **motorcycle** is registered.

With respect to an accident or occurrence to which this and any other motorcycle policy **we** issue to **you** applies, the total limit of **our** liability under all of the applicable policies shall not exceed the highest applicable limit of liability under any one policy.

This policy does not provide liability coverage for any person who is a named **insured** under a Basic Automobile Insurance Policy or Special Automobile Insurance Policy issued pursuant to New Jersey law or regulation. However, this exclusion does not apply to **you** unless **you** are **occupying**, at the time of the accident, a motor vehicle for which **you** are a named **insured** under the terms of a Basic Automobile Insurance Policy or Special Automobile Insurance Policy.

PART B: MEDICAL PAYMENTS

INSURING AGREEMENT

- A. If **you** paid a premium for this coverage, **we** will pay reasonable expenses incurred for necessary medical and funeral services because of **bodily injury**:
 - 1. Caused by accident; and
 - 2. Sustained by an insured person.

We will pay only up to the level of **your** selected policy limit shown on the **declaration** page. **We** will pay only those expenses incurred for services provided within six (6) years from the date of the accident.

Insured person means:

- 1. you or a relative:
 - (a) while occupying or
 - (b) as a pedestrian when struck by
 - a motor vehicle designed for use mainly on public roads.
- 2. any other person injured while occupying your insured motorcycle.

No person shall be considered an **insured person** if that person operates a **motorcycle** without a **motorcycle** license.

B. Regardless of whether you have paid a premium for Medical Payments coverage **we** will pay medical expenses incurred by any person not **occupying** or riding on a motor vehicle and who sustains **bodily injury** caused by an accident arising out of the maintenance or use of **your insured motorcycle**. The limit of **our** liability for payments to **pedestrians** will be that shown in the **declarations**.

EXCLUSIONS:

You should read the following exclusions carefully. If an exclusion applies, coverage will not be afforded under this Part B: Medical Payments.

- A. We do not provide Medical Payments for any insured person, spouse or pedestrian for bodily injury:
 - 1. Sustained:
 - (a) While committing a high misdemeanor or felony, or seeking to avoid lawful apprehension or arrest by a police officer; or
 - (b) While acting with specific intent to cause injury or damage to himself or others.
 - 2. Sustained while operating or occupying a motorcycle without the permission of the
 - (a) owner of the motorcycle; or
 - (b) named insured under the policy insuring that motorcycle.
 - 3. Sustained while **occupying** a motor vehicle used as a residence or premises.
 - 4. Due to:
 - (a) War (declared or undeclared);
 - (b) Civil war;
 - (c) Insurrection;
 - (d) Rebellion or revolution; or
 - (e) Any act or condition incident to any of the above.
 - 5. Resulting from the radioactive, toxic, explosive or other hazardous properties of nuclear material.
 - 6. Sustained while **occupying your insured motorcycle** when it is being used as a public or livery conveyance. This exclusion does not apply to a share-the-expense motor vehicle pool.
 - 7. Resulting from the use of **your insured motorcycle** in, or in preparation for, any race or other contest.
 - 8. Sustained while **your insured motorcycle** is used on any race course or other facility designed for racing or practicing racing.
 - 9. Occurring during the course of employment if workers' compensation benefits are required or available for the **bodily injury**.
 - 10. Sustained while occupying, or when struck by, any vehicle (other than your insured motorcycle) which is:
 - (a) owned by you; or
 - (b) furnished or available for your regular use.
 - 11. Sustained while occupying, or when struck by, any vehicle (other than your insured motorcycle) which is:
 - (a) owned by a relative; or
 - (b) furnished or available for the regular use of a **relative**.
 - However, this exclusion (11) does not apply to you.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY

The limit of liability shown on the **Declarations** Page for Medical Payments is the most **we** will pay regardless of the number of:

- 1. Claims made,
- 2. Vehicles that qualify as your insured motorcycle,
- 3. Insured persons,
- 4. Lawsuits brought,
- 5. Vehicles involved in an accident, or
- 6. Premiums paid.

No one will be entitled to duplicate payments for the same elements of damages from this coverage and Liability, Uninsured or Underinsured Motorist Coverage. No one will be entitled to recover duplicate payments for the same elements of **loss** under this insurance or any motor vehicle insurance including self-insurance.

OTHER INSURANCE

Medical Payments covers only what any applicable health insurance does not, up to this policy's Medical Payments limit. As between two motor vehicle insurance policies that provide Medical Payments, this policy is primary, with one exception. The exception is that any insurance we provide with respect to a motor vehicle **you** do not own shall be excess over any other collectible insurance providing payment for medical or funeral expenses.

TIME WITHIN WHICH CLAIM MUST BE MADE

An **insured** person must make a claim for Medical Payment Benefits within one (1) year of incurring the medical expense for which reimbursement is sought.

PART C: PEDESTRIAN PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION

This policy provides **pedestrian** personal injury protection coverage to **pedestrian**s who sustain **bodily injury** caused by **your insured motorcycle** in the **State** of New Jersey or by being struck by an object propelled by or from **your insured motorcycle** in the **State** of New Jersey.

NO OTHER PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION BENEFITS ARE PROVIDED BY THIS POLICY.

INSURING AGREEMENT

- A. **We** will pay **pedestrian** personal injury protection benefits to or for an **insured** who sustains **bodily injury**. The **bodily injury** must be caused by an accident arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of **your insured motorcycle**.
- B. With respect to **Pedestrian** Personal Injury Protection Coverage, **insured** and **eligible injured person** means: A "**pedestrian**", when the **bodily injury** is caused in New Jersey by:
 - 1. your insured motorcycle; or
 - 2. by being struck by an object propelled by or from your insured motorcycle.

NO OTHER PERSON IS AN INSURED FOR PURPOSES OF PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION BENEFITS UNDER THIS POLICY.

- C. Subject to the terms, conditions, and exclusions of this Coverage Part, **Pedestrian** Personal Injury Protection benefits consist of the following:
 - Medical Expenses Reasonable and necessary expenses, up to but not exceeding the sum of \$250,000, incurred for:
 - 1. Medical, surgical, rehabilitative and diagnostic treatments and services;
 - 2. Hospital expenses;
 - 3. Ambulance or transportation services;
 - 4. Medication; and
 - 5. Non-medical expenses that are prescribed by a treating **health care provider** for a permanent or significant brain, spinal cord of disfiguring injury.

Non-medical expense means charges for:

- (a) Products and devices, not exclusively used for medical purposes or as durable medical equipment, such as vehicles, durable goods, equipment, appurtenances, improvements to real or personal property, fixtures; and
- (b) Services and activities such as recreational activities, trips and leisure activities.

All medical expenses must:

- (a) Be rendered by a health care provider;
- (b) Be clinically supported and consistent with the symptoms, diagnosis or indications of the insured;
- (c) Be consistent with the most appropriate level of service that is in accordance with the standards of good practice and standard professional treatment protocols, including care paths for an **identified injury**;
- (d) Not be rendered primarily for the convenience of the **insured** or the **health care provider**;
- (e) Not involve unnecessary testing or treatment; and
- (f) If they are identified in our **pre-certification** plan, receive **pre-certification** by **us**, except for **emergency care** and initial care provided in the first ten (10) days of treatment.

- However, medical expenses include any nonmedical remedial treatment rendered in accordance with recognized religious methods of healing.
- Income Continuation Loss of income of an income producer payable during his lifetime as a result of bodily injury disability. Income continuation shall not exceed net income normally earned during the period in which benefits are payable and in no event shall exceed the maximum of \$100 per week and in no event shall exceed the total sum of \$5200.
- 3. Essential Services Reimbursement to an **insured**, up to the maximum of \$12.00 per day, but not exceeding the total sum of \$4380, to an **insured**, for payments made to others, for necessary and reasonable expenses incurred in obtaining substitute essential services ordinarily performed by such **insured** during his lifetime, not for income but for the benefit of himself and any **relatives**.
- 4. Death Benefits An amount payable in the event of the death of an **insured**, subject to the maximums for **income** continuation benefits and essential services benefits of (C.2.) and (C.3.) above, to be calculated as follows:
 - (a) If the **insured** was an **income producer** at the time of the accident, the amount of any unpaid income continuation benefits available to such **insured** at the time of the **insured**'s death.
 - (b) If the insured ordinarily performed essential services for the care and maintenance of himself and any relative, the amount of any unpaid essential services benefits available to such insured at the time of the insured's death.
- 5. Funeral Expenses Reasonable expenses up to but not exceeding the sum of \$1,000, incurred for funeral, burial, and cremation.

DEFINITIONS

In addition to the **bolded** terms in the Policy Definitions section, the following **bolded** terms shall have the following meanings provided below for purposes of this Part C: **Pedestrian** Personal Injury Protection only, including when the word or phrase is used in its singular, plural or possessive form.

- A. Actual benefits means those benefits determined to be payable for allowable expenses.
- B. Allowable expense means a medically necessary, reasonable and customary item of expense covered as benefits by the named insured's or a relative's health benefits plan or personal injury protection benefits as an eligible expense, at least in part. When benefits provided are in the form of services, the reasonable monetary value of each such service shall be considered as both an allowable expense and a paid benefit.
- C. **Bodily injury** means bodily harm, sickness or disease, including an **identified injury** or death but only which results from and in bodily harm.
- D. Clinically supported means that a health care provider, prior to selecting, performing or ordering the administration of a treatment or diagnostic test, has:
 - 1. Personally examined the **insured** to ensure that the proper medical indications exist to justify ordering the treatment or test;
 - 2. Physically examined the patient including making an assessment of any current and/or historical subjective complaints, observations, objective findings, neurologic indications, and physical tests;
 - 3. Considered any and all previously performed tests that relate to the injury and the results and which are relevant to the proposed treatment or test; and
 - Recorded and documented these observations, positive and negative findings and conclusions on the insured's medical records.
- E. **Decision point** means those junctures in the treatment of an **identified injury** where a decision must be made about the continuation or choice of further treatment. It includes any determination to administer one of the tests identified in N.J.A.C. 11-3- 4.5(b).
- F. **Decision point review** means the procedures set forth in **our** decision point review plan approved by the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance with regard to receiving notice and responding to requests for proposed treatment or testing at **decision points**.
- G. **Diagnostic test** means a medical service or procedure utilizing biomechanical, neurological, neurodiagnostic, radiological, vascular or any means, other than bioanalysis, intended to assist in establishing a medical, dental, physical therapy, chiropractic or psychological diagnosis, for the purpose of recommending or developing a course of treatment for the tested patient to be implemented by the treating practitioner or by the consultant.

H. Eligible expense means:

- With respect to health benefits plans, that portion of the medical expenses incurred for the treatment of **bodily**injury which is covered under the terms and conditions of the plan, without application of the deductible(s) and
 co-payment(s), if any.
- 2. With respect to personal injury protection benefits, that portion of the medical expenses incurred for the treatment of **bodily injury** which, without considering any deductible and co-payment, shall not exceed:
 - (a) The percent or dollar amounts specified on the medical fee schedules, or the actual billed expense, whichever is less; or
 - (b) The reasonable amount, as determined by **us**, considering the medical fee schedules for similar services or equipment in the region where the service or equipment was provided, when an incurred medical expense is not included on the medical fee schedules.
- I. **Emergency care** means all treatment of a **bodily injury** which manifests itself by acute symptoms of sufficient severity such that absence of immediate attention could reasonably be expected to result in:
 - 1. Death
 - 2. Serious impairment to bodily functions; or
 - 3. Serious dysfunction of a bodily organ or part.

Emergency care ends when the **insured** is discharged from acute care by the attending **health care provider**. **Emergency care** shall be presumed when the medical care is initiated at a hospital within 120 hours of the accident.

- J. **Health care provider** means those persons licensed or certified to perform health care treatment or services compensable as medical expenses and shall include, but not be limited to:
 - 1. A hospital or health care facility that is maintained by the **State** or any political subdivision;
 - 2. A hospital or health care facility licensed by the Department of Health and Senior Services;
 - 3. Other hospitals or health care facilities designated by the Department of Health and Senior Services to provide health care services, or other facilities, including facilities for radiological and **diagnostic testing**, free-standing emergency clinics or offices, and private treatment centers;
 - 4. A non-profit voluntary visiting nurse organization providing health care services other than a hospital;
 - 5. Hospitals or other health care facilities or treatment centers located in other **States** or nations;
 - 6. Physicians licensed to practice medicine and surgery;
 - (a) Licensed chiropractors:
 - (b) Licensed dentists;
 - (c) Licensed optometrists;
 - (d) Licensed pharmacists;
 - (e) Licensed podiatrists;
 - (f) Registered bioanalytical laboratories;
 - (g) Licensed psychologists;
 - (h) Licensed physical therapists;
 - (i) Certified nurse mid-wives;
 - (i) Certified nurse practitioners/clinical nurse-specialist;
 - (k) Licensed health maintenance organizations;
 - (I) Licensed orthotists and prosthetists:
 - (m) Licensed professional nurses;
 - (n) Licensed occupational therapists;
 - (o) Licensed speech-language pathologists;
 - (p) Licensed audiologists;
 - (q) Licensed physicians' assistants;
 - (r) Licensed physical therapy assistants;
 - (s) Licensed occupational therapy assistants; and
 - (t) **Providers** of other health care services or supplies, including durable medical goods.

- K. **Health Benefits Provider** means a person, whether subject to the regulation of the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance, Department of Health and Senior Services, or both, or not otherwise subject to such regulation, who contracts to provide health services, provide reimbursement for the cost of health services in whole or in part, or to provide for indemnity in the event health services are used, in return for a prepaid or postpaid premium or fee or other consideration, including, but not limited to:
 - 1. Insurers, as defined at N.J.S.A. 17B:17-2:
 - 2. Hospital service corporations, as defined at N.J.S.A. 17:48-1;
 - 3. Medical service corporations, as defined at N.J.S.A. 17:48A-1;
 - 4. Health service corporations, as defined at N.J.S.A. 17:48E-1;
 - 5. Health maintenance organizations, as defined at N.J.S.A. 26:2J-2;
 - 6. Dental service corporations, as defined at N.J.S.A. 17:48C-2;
 - 7. Dental plan organizations, as defined at N.J.S.A. 17:48D-2;
 - 8. Medicare;
 - 9. Medicaid:
 - 10. State Employees Health Benefits Plan;
 - 11. CHAMPUS;
 - 12. Self-insured programs; and
 - 13. An entity organized under the laws of any other **state** or jurisdiction which delivers certificates to residents of New Jersey evidencing coverage under a contract issued and delivered in a **state** or jurisdiction other than New Jersey.

A health benefits provider does not include an automobile insurer providing personal injury protection benefit.

- L. **Identified injury** means the following "bodily injuries" for which the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance has established standard courses of appropriate diagnosis and treatment;
 - 1. Cervical Spine: Soft Tissue Injury;
 - 2. Cervical Spine: Herniated Disc/Radiculopathy;
 - 3. Thoracic Spine: Soft Tissue Injury;
 - 4. Thoracic Spine: Herniated Disc/Radiculopathy;
 - 5. Lumbar-Sacral Spine: Soft Tissue Injury;
 - 6. Lumbar-Sacral Spine: Herniated Disc/Radiculopathy; and
 - 7. Any other **bodily injury** for which the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance has established standard courses of appropriate diagnosis and treatment.
- M. **Income** means salary, wages, tips, commissions, fees and other earnings derived from work or employment. It does not include unearned **income** such as pensions, interest, dividends or social security.
- N. **Income producer** means a person who, at the time of the accident, was in an occupational status earning or producing income. The status of an income producer will cease when the recipient is no longer an income producer for reasons other than disability.
- O. **Medically necessary**, as determined by **us**, means that the treatment is consistent with the symptoms or diagnosis, and treatment of the injury:
 - 1. is rendered by a health care provider;
 - 2. is clinically supported;
 - 3. is not primarily for the convenience of the injured person, his family/caretaker or health care provider;
 - 4. is the most appropriate standard or level of service which is in accordance with standards of good practice and standard professional treatment protocols. Standard professional treatment protocols are defined as treatment that meets evidence-based clinical guidelines, practice or treatment, published in peer-review journals; and
 - 5. does not involve unnecessary diagnostic testing.
- P. Pre-certification, pre-certification request, or pre-certify means:
 - 1. The procedures in **our** approved decision point review plan approved by the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance: or
 - 2. Procedures not included in **our** decision point review plan but that may be subject to overutilization.

- Q. Pedestrian means any person who is not occupying, entering on to or into, or getting off or out of a vehicle:
 - 1. Propelled by other than muscular power; and
 - 2. Designed primarily for use on highways, rails and tracks.

EXCLUSIONS:

You should read the following exclusions carefully. If an exclusion applies, coverage will not be afforded under this Part C: **Pedestrian** Personal Injury Protection.

- A. We do not provide Personal Injury Protection Coverage for bodily injury:
 - 1. To any insured:
 - (a) Whose conduct contributed to the **bodily injury** in any of the following ways:
 - (i) While committing a high misdemeanor or felony, or seeking to avoid lawful apprehension or arrest by a police officer; or
 - (ii) While acting with specific intent to cause injury or damage to himself or others.
 - (b) If that **insured** is entitled to personal injury protection coverage as a named **insured** or **relative** under the terms of another policy, including a "basic automobile insurance policy" or special automobile insurance policy as defined by the New Jersey Automobile Insurance Cost Reduction Act of 1998 and any amendments thereto.
 - (c) Operating or occupying a motorcycle without the permission of the
 - (i) owner of the motorcycle; or
 - (ii) named **insured** under the policy insuring that **motorcycle**.
 - (d) Who is the owner of a motor vehicle that is registered or principally garaged in New Jersey and is required to be insured by an insurance policy providing personal injury protection benefits, but who has failed to maintain such a policy in effect on the date of the accident.
 - 2. Arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use, including loading or unloading, of any vehicle while located for use as a residence or premises, other than for transitory recreational purposes.
 - 3. Due to:
 - (a) War (declared or undeclared);
 - (b) Civil war;
 - (c) Insurrection;
 - (d) Rebellion or revolution; or
 - (e) Any act or condition incident to any of the above.
 - 4. Resulting from:
 - (a) Radioactive;
 - (b) Toxic;
 - (c) Explosive; or
 - (d) Other hazardous

properties of nuclear material.

- 5. To any **relative** if the **relative** is entitled to New Jersey Personal Insurance Protection Coverage as a named **insured** under the terms of another policy.
- B. We do not provide Personal Injury Protection Coverage with respect to the following diagnostic tests:
 - 1. Spinal diagnostic ultrasound;
 - 2. Iridology;
 - 3. Reflexology;
 - Surrogate arm mentoring;
 - 5. Surface Electromyography (Surface EMG);
 - 6. Mandibular tracking and simulation;
 - 7. Any other **diagnostic test** that is determined by New Jersey law or regulation to be ineligible for Personal Injury Protection Coverage;
 - 8. Any **diagnostic test** that is determined to have no significant medical value in developing, evaluating and implementing treatment plans as identified by the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance in N.J.A.C. 11:3-4.5 and subsequent revisions.

- C. We do not provide personal injury protection coverage for bodily injury to any insured:
 - 1. When treatments are deemed to be experimental or investigational; and
 - For any diagnostic test, treatment, service, prescription drug or durable good not considered medically necessary.
- D. **We** do not provide personal injury protection coverage for **bodily injury** to an **insured** for that portion of payable amounts that are paid, payable or required and provided under any workers compensation or employees temporary disability law or under Medicare provided under federal law or benefits that are actually collected that are provided under federal law to active and retired military personnel.
- E. **We** do not provide personal injury protection coverage for **bodily injury** to any **insured** covered under a Basic Automobile Insurance Policy issued pursuant to N.J.S.A. 39:6A-3.1.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY:

- A. The limits of liability described in this Part C for the Personal Injury Protection Coverage benefits that apply are the most **we** will pay to or for each **insured** injured in any one accident, regardless of the number of:
 - 1. Insureds:
 - 2. Policies applicable; or
 - 3. Vehicles insured.
- B. Any amounts payable under Personal Injury Protection Coverage shall be reduced by any amounts:
 - 1. Paid;
 - 2. Payable; or
 - 3. Required to be provided to under any of the following:
 - (a) Workers compensation law, disability benefits law, or similar law;
 - (b) Medicare provided under federal law; or
 - (c) Benefits actually collected that are provided under federal law to active and retired military personnel;
- C. For all other insured persons:
 - 1. The limit is \$250,000, whether or not incurred for catastrophic injury treatment expenses.
 - 2. A \$250 deductible, applicable to all insured persons, applies for medical expense benefits.
 - 3. The limit that applies will be subject to a 20% copayment for the reimbursable amount between the applicable deductible and up to \$5,000 of allowable expenses.
- D. Any amounts payable for medical expense benefits shall be the fee set forth in the medical fee schedules promulgated by the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance for specific injuries or services or the usual, customary and reasonable fee, whichever is less.
- E. An amount not exceeding a limit of \$100 per week and a total limit of \$5,200 payable for the loss of income of an "income producer" during his or her lifetime, as a result of "bodily injury" disability; not to exceed net "income" normally earned during the period in which benefits are payable.
- F. An amount not exceeding a limit of \$12 per day and a total limit of \$4,380 payable to an **insured** person as reimbursement for payments made to others, for substitute essential services of the type actually rendered during his or her lifetime and which he or she would ordinarily have performed not for "income" but for the care and maintenance of himself or herself and persons related to the insured by blood, marriage, or adoption (including a ward or foster child) who are residents of the same household as the **insured** person.
- G. The amount or amounts payable in the event of the death of an insured person as determined by below:
 - 1. If the **insured** person was an "income producer" at the time of the "accident", an amount equal to the difference between \$5,200 and all basic income continuation benefits paid for any losses of "income" resulting from his or her injury prior to his or her death; or
 - 2. If the **insured** person ordinarily performed essential services for the care and maintenance of himself or herself, his or her family or family household, an amount equal to the difference between \$4,380 and all basic essential service benefits paid with respect to his or her injury prior to death.
- H. An amount not exceeding \$1,000 for reasonable funeral, burial, and cremation expenses incurred.

OTHER INSURANCE

- A. No one will be entitled to duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this or any similar insurance, including approved plans of self-insurance. If an **insured** receives benefits from another insurer, that insurer shall be entitled to recover from **us** its pro rata share of the benefits paid. An insurer's pro rata share is the proportion that the insurer's liability bears to the total of all applicable limits.
- B. If there is other applicable insurance, including approved self-insurance plans, the maximum recovery under all such insurance shall not exceed the amount which would have been payable under the insurance with the highest limit of liability.
- C. If the **relative** for which this coverage is purchased is a named **insured** under a Basic Policy, this coverage does not apply pursuant to N.J.A.C. 11:3-3.3.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

The Our Recovery Rights Provision of Part G General Provisions is replaced in this Part C: **Pedestrian** Personal Injury Protection Coverage by the following:

OUR RECOVERY RIGHTS

- A. If we make a payment under this Coverage Part and the person to or for whom payment was made recovers damages from another;
 - 1. That person shall:
 - (a) Hold in trust for **us** the proceeds of the recovery;
 - (b) Reimburse **us** to the extent of **our** payment;
 - (c) Execute and deliver such instruments and papers as may be appropriate to secure the rights and obligations of that person and **us**; and
 - (d) Do nothing after loss to prejudice these rights.
 - 2. We shall have a lien to the extent of such payment. We may give notice of lien to:
 - (a) The person or organization causing the **bodily injury**
 - (b) His agent;
 - (c) His insurer, or
 - (d) A court having jurisdiction.

The following provisions are added to Part G: General Provisions:

SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR MEDICAL EXPENSES

If you or any other person are claiming medical expense benefits under this Part C, you must comply with all terms set forth in our decision point review plan. The failure to follow the decision point review plan may affect your claims payment.

PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

- A. We may, at our option, pay any medical expense benefits or essential services benefits to the:
 - 1. Insured; or
 - 2. Person or entity that provides products or services for such benefits.

These benefits shall not be assignable except to **providers** of service benefits. If so assigned, the **provider** of service benefits shall also be subject to the requirements of **pre-certification**, including the decision point review plan and is subject to the Dispute Resolution provision for the assignment of benefits. The **insured** shall be held harmless for penalty co-payments imposed as a result of the provider's failure to follow the requirements of the decision point review plan.

- B. In the event of the death of an **insured**, we will pay:
 - 1. Any amounts payable, but unpaid prior to death, for medical expense benefits to that person's estate;

- 2. Death benefits for an **insured** who was:
 - (a) An income producer, to:
 - (i) The surviving spouse or legally recognized civil union partner; or
 - (ii) If there is no surviving spouse or legally recognized civil union, the surviving children; or
 - (iii) If there is no surviving spouse or legally recognized civil union, or domestic partner, or children, the **insured's** estate.
 - (b) A **provider** of essential services to the person who has incurred the expense of providing essential services.
- 3. Funeral expense benefits to that person's estate.

DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- A. Dispute Resolution Organization ("DRO"), appointed by the New Jersey Commissioner of Banking and Insurance, administers the personal injury protection Dispute Resolution Program ("DRP"). As to any dispute(s) that arises from issues within the scope of Pedestrian Personal Injury Protection coverage, the DRP is the sole and exclusive method or remedy for resolving disputes not subject to or resolved by the internal appeals process.
- B. If we and:
 - 1. Any person seeking coverage under Part C; or
 - A provider of benefits having a valid assignment of benefits allegedly due under Part C; do not agree as to any
 issue related to pedestrian personal injury protection coverage benefits under Part C, either party may submit the
 matter to dispute resolution as described in Paragraph A. here above and in accord with New Jersey law and
 regulations, as amended.
- C. If there is any dispute as to a decision made under **our** decision point review plan process, the Internal Appeal process outlined in our decision point review plan first must be exhausted as a condition precedent before proceeding to Dispute Resolution in accord with New Jersey law for pedestrian personal injury protection coverage and no-fault issues.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS REIMBURSEMENT

If an **insured** fails to apply for workers' compensation benefits or disability benefits for which that **insured** or eligible injured person is eligible, **we** may immediately apply to the **provider** of such benefits for reimbursement of any benefits we have paid under this coverage.

PART D: COVERAGE FOR DAMAGE TO YOUR VEHICLE

INSURING AGREEMENT

- 1. **We** will pay for direct and accidental **loss** to **your insured motorcycle**, including its equipment when permanently attached, minus any applicable deductible shown in the **Declarations**.
- 2. We will pay for loss to your insured motorcycle caused by:
 - (a) **Comprehensive** Coverage losses only if the **Declarations** indicate that **Comprehensive** Coverage is provided for that **motorcycle**.
 - (b) Collision only if the Declarations indicate that Collision Coverage is provided for that motorcycle.

No person shall be considered an **insured** person if that person uses a vehicle without a reasonable belief of having permission to use the vehicle, including, but not limited to, a person not licensed to operate a **motorcycle** or any other motor vehicle.

LOSS SETTLEMENT

We may pay for loss in money or repair or replace the damaged or stolen property. **We** may, at **our** expense, return any stolen property to:

- 1. You; or
- 2. The address shown in this policy.

If we return stolen property, we will pay for any damage resulting from the theft. We may keep all or part of the property at an agreed or appraised value.

If we pay for loss in money, our payment will include the applicable sales tax for the damaged or stolen property.

If we pay the amount necessary to repair the stolen or damaged property, you have the option to use either:

- 1. A motor vehicle repair facility that we have an arrangement with; or
- 2. A motor vehicle repair facility of your choice;

in any repairs to your insured motorcycle.

If **you** choose to use a motor vehicle repair facility, other than a repair facility that **we** have an arrangement with, **we** will pay **you** in accordance with the terms and conditions, including price, provided by the repair facility that **we** have an arrangement with.

ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS USED IN THIS PART ONLY

In addition to the **bolded** terms in the Policy Definitions section, the following **bolded** terms shall have the following meanings provided below for purposes of this Part D: Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle, including when the word or phrase is used in its singular, plural or possessive form.

- A. **Actual Cash Value** is the lesser of (1) the replacement cost of the **motorcycle** or property less the **depreciation** and/or **betterment** and 2) the purchase price.
- B. Betterment is improvement of the motorcycle or property to a greater value than its pre-loss condition.
- C. **Collision** means the upset of **your insured motorcycle** or its impact with another vehicle or object. Damage caused by the following is "**comprehensive**":
 - 1. Missiles or falling objects;
 - 2. Fire:
 - 3. Theft or larceny;
 - 4. Explosion or earthquake;
 - 5. Hail, water, flood or wind;
 - 6. Malicious mischief or vandalism;
 - 7. Riot or civil commotion;
 - 8. Contact with a bird or animal;
 - 9. Lightning;
 - 10. Smoke; or
 - 11. Breakage of glass.

If breakage of glass is caused by a **collision you** may elect to have it considered a loss caused by collision.

- D. **Depreciation** means a decrease or loss in value to the **motorcycle** or property because of use, disuse, physical wear and tear, age, outdatedness or other causes.
- E. **Diminution in value** means the actual or perceived loss in market or resale value which results from a direct and accidental **loss**.
- F. Loss means tangible direct and accidental damage to your insured motorcycle, including its equipment when permanently attached, resulting immediately and proximately from the occurrence. Loss does not include loss that occurs as a consequence of physical damage to your insured motorcycle, including diminution in value.
- G. Theft means the unlawful taking of your insured motorcycle.

EXCLUSIONS

You should read the following exclusions carefully. If an exclusion applies, coverage will not be afforded under this Part D: Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle.

We do not cover loss:

- A. To your insured motorcycle while used to carry persons or property for a charge.
- B. Caused by war (declared or undeclared), civil war, insurrection, rebellion, revolution, nuclear reaction, radiation or radioactive contamination, discharge of nuclear weapon (even if accidental) or any consequence of these.
- C. Arising out of the use of **your insured motorcycle** in, or in practice or the preparation for, a race, speed contest, hill climbing exhibition or any other contest or demonstration.
- D. Sustained while **your insured motorcycle** is used on any race course or other facility designed for racing or practicing racing.
- E. To any electronic equipment designed for the reproduction of sound and any accessories used with such equipment. This includes but is not limited to:
 - 1. Radios and stereos;
 - 2. Tape decks; or
 - 3. Compact disc players.

This exclusion (E) does not apply to equipment designed solely for the reproduction of sound and accessories used with such equipment, provided:

- 1. The equipment is permanently installed in your insured motorcycle; or
- 2. The equipment is:
 - (a) Removable from a housing unit which is permanently installed in the motorcycle;
 - (b) Designed to be solely operated by use of the power from the motorcycle's electrical system; and
 - (c) In or upon your insured motorcycle at the time of loss.
- F. **Loss** to any electronic equipment that receives or transmits audio, visual or data signals and any accessories used with such equipment. This includes but is not limited to:
 - 1. Citizens band radios;
 - 2. Telephones;
 - 3. Two-way mobile radios;
 - 4. Scanning monitor receivers;
 - 5. Television monitor receivers;
 - 6. Video cassette recorders:
 - 7. Audio cassette recorders; or
 - 8. Personal computers.

This exclusion (F) does not apply to:

- Any electronic equipment that is necessary for the normal operation of the motorcycle or the monitoring of the motorcycle's operating systems; or
- 2. A permanently installed telephone designed to be operator by use of the power from the **motorcycle's** electrical system and any accessories used with the telephone.
- G. Loss to tapes, records, discs or other media used with equipment described in exclusions "E" and "F".
- H. To **your insured motorcycle** resulting from its abandonment by an **insured** person.
- I. To **your insured motorcycle** resulting from its use in illegal trade or transportation.
- J. Resulting from wear and tear, freezing, mechanical or electrical breakdown or failure, or road damage to tires, unless the **loss** results from the total **theft** of **your insured motorcycle**.
- K. Due to confiscation of your insured motorcycle by government or civil authority.
- L. To tools, clothing or personal effects.
- M. To **your insured motorcycle** while in the care, custody or control of anyone for the purpose of sale or in the intent to offer for sale after testing, restoration or other preparation.
- N. To **your insured motorcycle** due to conversion, embezzlement or secretion by any person in the possession of the **motorcycle**.
- O. For any claimed diminution in value after your insured motorcycle has been repaired.
- P. To a vehicle other than your insured motorcycle.
- Q. To **your insured motorcycle** if it is or at any time becomes subject to any bailment, lease, conditional sale, purchase agreement, mortgages, or other encumbrance not specifically described in this Policy.

LIMITS OF LIABILITY

- A. Our limit of liability for loss will be the lesser of the:
 - 1. actual cash value at the time of loss of the stolen or damaged property; or
 - 2. amount necessary to repair or replace the property with other property of like kind and quality, or
 - 3. \$45.000
 - whichever amount is lower.
- B. An adjustment for **depreciation** and physical condition will be made in determining **actual cash value** in the event of a total loss.
- C. If a repair or replacement results in better than like kind or quality, we will not pay for the amount of the betterment.
- D. **We** will not include compensation for a **diminution in value** of the **motorcycle** or property that is claimed to result from the **loss**.

APPRAISAL

If we cannot agree with you on the amount of loss, then we or you may demand appraisal of the loss. If appraisal is demanded, you and we shall each appoint a competent and impartial appraiser. Those appraisers will determine the amount of loss. If those appraisers cannot agree, the disagreement will be submitted to a competent and impartial umpire chosen by the appraisers. If the appraisers take more than 15 days to agree upon an umpire, then we or you may request that a judge of the Superior Court of the county in which the address shown on the Declarations is located will select an umpire. The appraisers and the umpire will then determine the amount of loss. The amount of loss agreed to by both appraisers or by one appraiser and the umpire will be binding. The award must be in writing. You will pay your appraiser's fees and expenses. We will pay our appraiser's fees and expenses. We and you will equally share the fees and expenses of the umpire and all other expenses of the appraisal. We do not waive any of our rights under the policy by agreeing to an appraisal.

NO BENEFITS TO BAILEE

The insurance shall not in any way benefit any person or organization caring for or handling the property for a fee.

OTHER INSURANCE CLAUSE

If there is other applicable similar insurance on a loss covered by this Part, **we** will pay only that proportion of the **loss** that **our** limit of liability bears to the total limits of all applicable similar insurance. Any insurance **we** provide for a **motorcycle you** do not own or a **motorcycle** owned by **you** or **your relative** which is not insured for this coverage under this policy is excess over any other collectible insurance. The term "collectible insurance" includes any coverage provided by an organization or person through a program of self-insurance permitted by the law of the **state** in which the vehicle is registered.

OUR RIGHTS TO RECOVERY

If recovery is made by an **insured** (as that term is defined in Part A) person under this policy from another without **our** written consent and in violation of this section of the policy, the **insured** person's right to payment under any affected coverage will no longer exist.

PART E: UNINSURED and UNDERINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE

INSURING AGREEMENT

We will pay compensatory damages which an **insured** is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an **uninsured motor vehicle** or **underinsured motor vehicle** where such coverage is indicated in the **Declarations** because of:

- 1. Bodily injury sustained by an insured and caused by an accident; and
- Property damage caused by an accident except under paragraph "2" of the definition of uninsured motor vehicle.

The owner's or operator's liability for these damages must arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of the uninsured motor vehicle or underinsured motor vehicle. We will not pay for punitive or exemplary damages.

We will pay damages under this coverage for an **underinsured motor vehicle** only after the limits of liability under any applicable liability bonds or policies have been exhausted by payment of judgment or settlement.

Any judgment for damages arising out of a suit brought without our written consent is not binding on us.

ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS USED IN THIS PART ONLY

As used in this part:

- A. Insured as used in this part for uninsured motor vehicle benefits means:
 - 1. You or any relative.
 - 2. Any other person **occupying your insured motorcycle**. However, this person is only entitled to the minimum statutory limits of uninsured motorist coverage.
 - 3. Any person for damages that person is entitled to recover because of **bodily injury** to which this coverage applies sustained by a person described in 1. or 2. above.

No person shall be considered an **insured** person if that person uses **your insured motorcycle** without a reasonable belief of having permission to use it, including, but not limited to, a person not licensed to operator a **motorcycle**.

- B. Insured as used in this part for underinsured motor vehicle benefits means:
 - 1. You or any relative while occupying your insured motorcycle.
 - 2. Any other person **occupying your insured motorcycle** who is not the named insured, spouse, or resident **relative**, is limited to limits of \$15,000 per person/\$30,000 per accident and not those limits shown in the **Declarations** if greater than \$15,000 per person/\$30,000 per accident, but in no event will each person, each occurrence limit be increased. However, this person is not covered for **underinsured motor vehicle** benefits under this policy if the person is a named **insured** or a resident **relative** of a named **insured** under any other policy of motor vehicle insurance that provides underinsured motorists coverage, regardless of the limits of that policy and whether or not that policy is designated as excess or primary.
 - 3. Any person for damages that person is entitled to recover because of **bodily injury** to which this coverage applies sustained by a person described in "1." or "2." above.
- C. Property damage as used in this part means injury to or destruction of:
 - 1. Your insured motorcycle or
 - 2. Any property owned by a person listed in "1." or "2." of insured while contained in your insured motorcycle.
- D. **Underinsured motor vehicle** means the following:
 - 1. With respect to an **insured** who:
 - (a) Is not the named insured under this policy; and
 - (b) Is a named **insured** under one or more other policies providing similar coverage;

underinsured motor vehicle means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but its limit for liability is less than the highest applicable limit of liability for this coverage under any insurance providing coverage to that **insured** as a named **insured**, including any limit less than the limit specified in the New Jersey Financial Responsibility law.

- 2. With respect to an insured who:
 - (a) Is not the named **insured** under this policy or any other policy; and
 - (b) Is insured as a spouse or relative under one or more other policies providing similar coverage;

underinsured motor vehicle means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but its limit for liability is less than the highest applicable limit of liability under any insurance providing coverage to that **insured** as a spouse or relative, including any limit less than the limit specified in the New Jersey Financial Responsibility law.

3. With respect to any other **insured** not described in paragraphs" 1." or "2." above, **underinsured motor vehicle** means a land motor vehicle or **trailer** of any type to which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but its limit for liability is less than the limit of liability for this coverage. Any such **insured** described in this section is only entitled to coverage up to the minimum statutory limits for Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist Coverage.

However, underinsured motor vehicle does not include:

- 1. An uninsured motor vehicle.
- 2. Any vehicle or equipment owned or operated by a self-insurer under any applicable motor vehicle law.

A motor vehicle shall not be considered an **underinsured motor vehicle** unless the limits of all **bodily injury** liability insurance or bonds applicable to that vehicle at the time of this accident have been exhausted by payment of settlements or judgments.

- E. Uninsured motor vehicle means a land motor vehicle or trailer of any type:
 - 1. To which no liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident.
 - 2. Which, with respect to damages for **bodily injury** only, is a hit-and-run vehicle whose operator or owner cannot be identified and which hits, or causes an accident resulting in **bodily injury** without hitting:
 - (a) You or any relative;
 - (b) A vehicle which you or any relative are occupying; or
 - (c) Your insured motorcycle.
 - 3. To which a liability bond or policy applies at the time of the accident but the bonding or insuring company:
 - (a) Denies coverage; or
 - (b) Is or becomes insolvent.
 - Any automobile covered by a special insurance policy pursuant to New Jersey law or regulation. N.J.S.A. 17:28-1.1.

However, uninsured motor vehicle does not include:

- 1. An underinsured motor vehicle.
- 2. Any vehicle or equipment:
 - (a) Owned or operated by a self-insurer under any applicable motor vehicle law, except a self-insurer which is or becomes insolvent or denies coverage or
 - (b) Insured under a basic automobile insurance policy issued in accordance with New Jersey law or regulation, whether or not the policy includes the optional **bodily injury** coverage
- F. Neither uninsured motor vehicle nor underinsured motor vehicle includes any vehicle or equipment:
 - 1. Owned by or furnished or available for the regular use of you or any relative.
 - 2. Owned by any governmental unit or agency.
 - 3. Operated on rails or crawler treads.
 - 4. Designed mainly for use off public roads while not on public roads.
 - 5. While located for use as a residence or premises.

EXCLUSIONS

You should read the following exclusions carefully. If an exclusion applies, coverage will not be afforded under this Part E: Uninsured and Underinsured Motorists Coverage.

- A. We do not provide coverage under this part for property damage or bodily injury sustained by any person:
 - 1. Who is an owner of a motor vehicle:
 - (a) Insured under a basic automobile insurance policy or special insurance policy issued in accordance with New Jersey law or regulation; or
 - (b) Required to be insured in accordance with New Jersey law or regulation, but not insured for this coverage or any similar coverage.

This includes a **trailer** of any type used with a vehicle described in "a." and "b." above. However, this exclusion ("A. 1.") does not apply to **you** unless **you** are **occupying**, at the time of the accident, a motor vehicle described in "a." and "b." above.

- 2. If the **insured** or their legal representative settles any **bodily injury** or **property damage** claim with the owner or operator of an **uninsured motor vehicle** without **our** written consent.
- 3. For damages for pain, suffering and inconvenience resulting from **bodily injury** caused by an accident involving an **uninsured motor vehicle**, unless the injured **insured** has a legal right to recover damages for such pain, suffering and inconvenience under the New Jersey Automobile Reparation Reform Act. The injured **insured's** legal right to recover damages for pain, suffering and inconvenience under the New Jersey Automobile Reparation Reform Act will be determined by the liability tort limitation, if any, applicable to that **insured**.
- 4. Using a vehicle without a reasonable belief that that operator is entitled to do so, including, but not limited to, a person not licensed to operate a **motorcycle**.
- 5. For the first \$500 of the amount of property damage to the property of each **insured** as the result of any one accident. **We** do not cover property damage by a hit and run vehicle.
- 6. Acting with specific intent of causing injury to himself or others in operating or use of a motorcycle.
- 7. Who
 - (a) is convicted of, or pleads guilty to operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicating liquor or narcotic, hallucinogenic or habit-producing drug, or
 - (b) after arrest refuses to submit to a chemical test for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or a narcotic, hallucinogenic or habit-producing drug.
- 8. When **your insured motorcycle** is being used to carry persons or property for a fee. This exclusion does not apply to share-the-expense car pool.
- 9. Arising out of the use of **your insured motorcycle**, in preparation for a race, speed contest, hill climbing exhibition or any other contest or demonstration.
- 10. While **your insured motorcycle** is used on any race course or other facility designed for racing or practicing racing.
- 11. For:
 - (a) **bodily injury** sustained by **you** while **occupying**, or through being struck by, an **uninsured motor vehicle** or **underinsured motor vehicle** owned by **you** or
 - (b) **bodily injury** sustained by any of **your relatives** while **occupying**, or through being struck by, an **uninsured motor vehicle** or **underinsured motor vehicle** owned by that **relative**.
- B. This coverage shall not apply directly or indirectly to benefit:
 - 1. Any insurer or self-insurer under any of the following or similar law:
 - (a) Workers' compensation law; or
 - (b) Disability benefits law.
 - 2. Any insurer of property.
- C. We do not provide Uninsured or Underinsured Motorists Coverage for punitive or exemplary damages.

LIMITS OF LIABILITY

A. The **bodily injury** liability for "each person" is the maximum **we** will pay for all damages for **bodily injury** sustained by one person in one occurrence. The "each person" limit of liability includes the total of all claims made **for bodily injury** to a person and all claims of others derived from such **bodily injury** including, but not limited to, emotional injury and mental anguish resulting from the **bodily injury** of another or from witnessing the **bodily injury** to another, loss of society, loss of companionship, loss of services, loss of consortium and death.

Subject to the **bodily injury** liability limit for "each person," the **bodily injury** liability limit for "each occurrence" is the maximum **we** will pay for all damages for **bodily injury** to two or more persons in one occurrence.

This is the most we will pay regardless of the number of:

- 1. Insureds:
- 2. Claims made:
- 3. Vehicles or premiums shown in the Declarations; or
- 4. Vehicles involved in the accident.

Any person qualifying as an **insured** under this policy and who is not the named **insured**, spouse or resident **relative** is limited to limits of \$15,000 per person/\$30,000 per accident and not those limits shown in the **Declarations** if greater than \$15,000 per person/\$30,000 per accident, but in no event will each person, each occurrence limit be increased.

Subject to our maximum limit of liability for this coverage:

- 1. If:
 - (a) An **insured** is not the named **insured** under this policy and is a named **insured** under one or more other policies providing similar coverage; and
 - (b) All such other policies have a limit of liability for similar coverage which is less than the limit of liability for this coverage;

then **our** maximum limit of liability for that **insured**, for all damages resulting from any one accident, shall not exceed the highest applicable limit of liability under any insurance providing coverage to that **insured** as a named **insured**.

- 2. If:
 - (a) An **insured** is not the named **insured** under this policy or any other policy; and is insured as a spouse or relative under one or more other policies providing similar coverage; and
 - (b) All such other policies have a limit of liability for similar coverage which is less than the limit of liability for this coverage;

then **our** maximum limit of liability for that **insured**, for all damages resulting from any one accident, shall not exceed the highest applicable limit of liability under any insurance providing coverage to that **insured** as a spouse or **relative**.

As used in this section, similar coverage includes any UM/UIM policy issued in another **state** which may or may not be similar to New Jersey UM/UIM coverage.

All **bodily injury** arising out of continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general conditions shall be considered as arising out of one occurrence.

- B. With respect to an accident with an underinsured motor vehicle, the limit of liability shall be reduced by all sums:
 - 1. Paid because of the **bodily injury** or **property damage** by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible. This includes all sums paid under Part A: Liability of this policy; and
 - 2. Paid because of the **property damage** under Part D of this policy or any similar coverage under any other policy. However, if an **insured** person enters into an agreement for an amount less than the sum of the limits of liability under an applicable **bodily injury** liability bonds and policies, **our** limit of liability for underinsured motorist coverage shall not exceed the difference between the damages sustained by the **insured** person and the sum of the applicable **bodily injury** liability bonds or policies.

- C. No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and:
 - 1. Part A: Liability of this policy; or
 - 2. Any Personal Injury Protection Coverage provided by this policy.
- D. **We** will not make a duplicate payment under this coverage part for any element of loss for which payment has been made by or on behalf of persons or organizations who may be legally responsible. This includes all sums paid under Part A: Liability of the policy.
- E. No payment will be made under this coverage for loss paid or payable under Part D: Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle of this policy.
- F. In determining the amount payable under uninsured motorist coverage, the amount of damages which an **insured** person is entitled to recover for **bodily injury** shall be reduced by all sums:
 - 1. Paid because of **bodily injury** by or on behalf of any persons or organizations that may be legally responsible;
 - 2. Paid or payable because of **bodily injury** under any of the following or similar laws:
 - (a) worker's compensation law;
 - (b) disability benefits law.

OTHER INSURANCE

If there is other applicable insurance available to an **insured** under one or more policies or provisions of coverage that is the same or similar to the insurance provided under this coverage part of the policy:

- A. Any recovery for damages for **bodily injury** or **property damage** under all such policies or provisions of coverage may equal but not exceed the highest applicable limit for any one vehicle under any insurance providing coverage on either a primary or excess basis. However:
 - 1. If an insured is:
 - (a) A named insured under one or more policies providing the same or similar coverage; and
 - (b) Not **occupying** a vehicle owned by that **insured**;
 - then any recovery for damages for **bodily injury** or **property damage** for that **insured** may equal but not exceed the highest applicable limit for any one vehicle under any insurance providing coverage to that insured as a named **insured**.
 - 2. If an insured is:
 - (a) Not a named insured under this policy or any other policy; and
 - (b) **Insured** as a spouse or **relative** under one or more policies providing the same or similar coverage; then any recovery for damages for **bodily injury** or **property damage** for that **insured** may equal but not exceed the highest applicable limit for any one vehicle under any insurance providing coverage to that **insured** as a spouse or **relative**.
- B. The maximum Uninsured motorist coverage **we** provide for accidents where **you** are the operator of or a **passenger** in a vehicle **you** do not own, or a vehicle owned by **you** or **your relative** which is not listed on the **Declarations** Page of this policy, shall be \$15,000 per person/\$30,000 per occurrence.
- C. If the coverage under this policy is provided:
 - 1. On a primary basis, **we** will pay only **our** share of the **loss** that must be paid under insurance providing coverage on a primary basis. **Our** share is the proportion that **our** limit of liability bears to the total of all applicable limits of liability for coverage provided on a primary basis.
 - 2. On an excess basis, **we** will pay only **our** share of the **loss** that must be paid under insurance providing coverage on an excess basis. **Our** share is the proportion that **our** limit of liability bears to the total of all applicable limits of liability for coverage provided on an excess basis.
- D. If there is other applicable out of **state** uninsured motorist or underinsured motorist coverage, any insurance **we** provide will be excess over any such collectible insurance.
- E. Uninsured and Underinsured motorist coverage only provides benefits for an accident occurring in the United States or Canada.

CONSENT TO BE BOUND

No judgment or settlement for damages arising out of a lawsuit brought against an operator or owner of an uninsured or **underinsured motor vehicle** shall be binding against **us** unless **we**:

- A. Receive reasonable notice of the filing of the lawsuit resulting in the judgment; and
- B. Had a reasonable opportunity to protect our interests in the lawsuit.

ARBITRATION

- A. If we and an insured do not agree:
 - 1. Whether that insured is legally entitled to recover damages; or
 - 2. As to the amount of damages which are recoverable by that insured;

from the owner or operator of an **uninsured motor vehicle** or an **underinsured motor vehicle**, then the matter may be arbitrated. However, disputes concerning coverage under this Part may not be arbitrated, unless **we** and the person making the claim agree to do so in writing. Disputes involving coverage are to be decided by the Superior Court of the county where the address shown on the **Declaration** page is located.

Either party may make a written demand for arbitration. In this event, each party will select an arbitrator. The two arbitrators will select a third. If they cannot agree within 30 days, either may request that selection be made by a judge of a court having jurisdiction.

- B. Each party will:
 - 1. Pay the expenses it incurs; and
 - 2. Bear the expenses of the third arbitrator equally.
- C. Unless both parties agree otherwise, arbitration will take place in the county in where the address shown on the **Declarations** page is located. Local rules of law as to procedure and evidence will apply. A decision agreed to by two of the arbitrators will be binding as to whether the **insured** is legally entitled to recover damages and the amount of damages unless the arbitration award exceeds the minimum limit for liability specified by the Financial Responsibility Law of New Jersey. If the arbitration award exceeds that limit, either party may demand the right to a trial by jury on all issues of liability and damages. This demand must be made within 60 days of the arbitrators' decision. If this demand is not made, the amount of damages agreed to by the arbitrators will be binding.

PART F: DUTIES AFTER AN ACCIDENT OR LOSS

WHAT YOU MUST DO IN CASE OF AN ACCIDENT OR LOSS

Any person making a claim under any Part in this policy or seeking liability coverage under Part A: Liability must:

- A. Notify **us** promptly. The notice must give the time, place and circumstances of the accident or **loss** including the names and addresses of injured persons and witnesses.
- B. Cooperate with **us** and help **us** in any matter concerning a claim or suit. This includes, when asked, assisting **us** in making settlements, securing and giving evidence and attending and getting witnesses to attend hearings and trials. No obligations shall be assumed, expenses incurred or voluntary payments made by an **insured** person except at that person's own costs.
- C. Send **us** promptly any legal papers received relating to a claim or suit.
- D. Submit to physical examinations at **our** expense by doctors **we** choose as often as **we** may reasonably require.
- E. Authorize **us** to obtain copies of wage, tax, business or financial records, medical records or any other records reasonably necessary to determine the amount of damages.
- F. Provide any written proof of loss **we** require.
- G. Give a statement under oath and any other statements **we** deem necessary to **our** representatives at **our** request and as often as **we** may reasonably require.

- H. A person making claim under uninsured motorist coverage or underinsured motorist coverage must:
 - 1. Give **us** all details about the death, injury, treatment or other information needed to determine the amount payable;
 - 2. Permit us to inspect the motorcycle or other vehicle involved in the accident;
 - 3. Immediately send to **us** a copy of all suit papers if the person making the claim sues another party liable for the accident;
 - 4. Under uninsured motor vehicle coverage, report an accident caused by an unidentified motor vehicle or unidentified operator to the police as soon as reasonably practical.
- I. A person or organization claiming motorcycle damage coverage must:
 - 1. Take reasonable steps after loss to protect the **motorcycle** and its equipment from further **loss**. **We** will pay reasonable expenses incurred in providing that protection. If that is not done, any further damages will not be covered under Part D: Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle;
 - 2. Report the theft of the motorcycle or its equipment to the police as soon as reasonably practicable;
 - 3. Allow us to inspect and appraise the damaged motorcycle before its repair or disposal;
 - 4. Allow **us** to copy all records, receipts and invoices relating to the purchase of the **motorcycle** or repairs to it.
- J. A person claiming first party benefits coverage must:
 - 1. Give **us** all the details about the death, injury, treatment and other information necessary to determine the amount payable;
 - 2. Give **us** authorization to obtain copies of wage, tax, business or financial records, medical records or any other records necessary to determine the amount of the damages.

PART G: GENERAL PROVISIONS

ASSIGNMENT

- A. **Your** rights and duties under this policy may not be assigned without **our** written consent. However, if a named **insured** shown in the **Declarations** dies, coverage will be provided for:
 - The surviving spouse or partner under a civil union considered valid under New Jersey law if residing in the same household at the time of death. Coverage applies to the spouse as if a named insured shown in the Declaration; and
 - The legal representative of the deceased person as if a named insured shown in the Declarations. This applies only with respect to the representative's legal responsibility to maintain or use your insured motorcycle.
- B. Coverage will only be provided until the end of the policy period.

BANKRUPTCY

We are not relieved of any obligation under this policy because of the bankruptcy or insolvency of an insured person.

CANCELLATION OR NON-RENEWAL OF THIS POLICY

A. Cancellation

This policy may be cancelled during the policy period as follows:

- 1. The named **insured** shown in the **Declarations** may cancel by:
 - (a) Returning this policy to us; or
 - (b) Giving **us** advance written notice of the date cancellation is to take effect.

- 2. **We** may cancel by mailing by certified mail or United States Post Office certificate of mailing to the named **insured** shown in the Declarations at the address shown in this policy:
 - (a) At least 20 days notice if notice is mailed during the first 60 days this policy is in effect and this is not a renewal or continuation policy; or
 - (b) At least 15 days but not more than 30 days notice if cancellation is for nonpayment of premium; or
 - (c) At least 20 days notice in all other cases.
- 3. After this policy is in effect for 60 days, or if this is a renewal or continuation policy, we will cancel only:
 - (a) For nonpayment of premium; or
 - (b) If your driver's license or that of (i) any driver who lives with you, or (ii) any driver who customarily uses your insured motorcycle, has been suspended or revoked for one or more convictions for serious motor vehicle violations as set forth in N.J.A.C. 11:3-35.

This must have occurred:

- (i) During the policy period; or
- (ii) Since the last anniversary of the original effective date if the policy period is other than one year.
- B. If **we** decide not to renew or continue this policy, **we** will mail notice by certified mail or United States Post Office certificate of mailing to the named **insured** shown in the **Declarations** at the address shown in this policy. Notice will be mailed at least 60 days before the end of the policy period.
- C. Subject to these notice requirements:

We will have the right not to renew or continue this policy at each anniversary of its original effective date.

Upon cancellation you may be entitled to a premium refund. If so, **we** will send it to **you** but the making or offer of a refund is not a condition of cancellation. If **you** cancel, the refund will be computed in accordance with a short rate procedure. If **we** cancel, the refund will be computed on a pro rata basis.

The policy period ends on the effective date of cancellation stated in a notice. "Short rate" means the refund calculated on a pro rata basis multiplied by .90.

This policy will automatically terminate at the end of the policy period if **you** or **your** representative does not accept **our** offer to renew or continue it. **Your** failure to pay the required renewal premium means that **you** have declined **our** offer.

If other insurance is obtained on **your insured motorcycle**, similar insurance afforded under this policy for that **motorcycle** will cease on the effective date of the other insurance. In addition, any coverage afforded under this policy will cease when a person other than **you** or a **relative** becomes the owner of that **motorcycle**.

If different requirements for cancellation and non-renewal or termination of policies are required because of the laws of **your state**, **we** will comply with those requirements.

CHANGES

This policy and the **Declarations** include all the agreements between **you** and **us** relating to this insurance. No change or waiver may be affected in this policy except by endorsement issued by **us**. If there is a change to the information used to develop the policy premium, **we** may adjust **your** premium.

Changes during the policy term that may result in a premium increase or decrease include, but are not limited to, changes in:

- 1. The number, type or use classification of **insured** vehicles;
- 2. Operators using insured vehicles;
- 3. The place of principal garaging of the **insured** vehicles;
- 4. Coverage, deductible, or limits.

You are required to inform **us** of these changes when they occur. If a change requires a premium adjustment, **we** will make the premium adjustment in accordance with **our** manual rules. If **we** make a change which broadens coverage under this edition of **your** policy without an additional premium charge, that change will automatically apply to **your** policy as of the date **we** implement the change in **your state**. This paragraph does not apply to changes implemented with a general program revision that includes both broadening and restrictions in coverage, whether that general program revision is implemented through introduction of a subsequent edition of **your** policy, or an amendatory endorsement.

MISREPRESENTATION OR FRAUD

We will cancel this policy if you misrepresent any material fact or circumstance relating to this insurance at the time the application is made or when an endorsement is sought. In that case, you and any lienholder for you shall not be entitled to coverage under Part D or Part E of this policy, retroactive to the date the misrepresentation was made. Coverage is also not provided to any person who qualifies as an **insured** under this policy who knowingly conceals or misrepresents any material fact or circumstance relating to this insurance in connection with the presentation or settlement of a claim.

OUR RECOVERY RIGHTS

- A. If **we** make a payment under this policy and the person to or for whom payment was made has a right to recover damages from another, **we** shall be subrogated to that right. That person shall do:
 - 1. Whatever is necessary to enable us to exercise our rights; and
 - 2. Nothing after loss to prejudice them.

However, **our** rights under this paragraph ("A") do not apply under Part D: Coverage for Damage to Your Vehicle against any person using **your insured motorcycle** with a reasonable belief that that person is entitled to do so.

- B. If we make a payment under this policy and the person to or for whom payment is made recovers damages from another, that person shall:
 - 1. Hold in trust for **us** the proceeds of the recovery; and
 - 2. Reimburse us to the extent of our payment.

POLICY TERRITORY

The policy territory is, with respect to:

- 1. Pedestrian personal injury protection coverage: accidents occurring in New Jersey
- 2. Uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage: accidents occurring in the United States or Canada; and
- 3. As to all other coverage parts, the policy territory is The United States of America, its territories and possessions; Puerto Rico; and Canada. This policy also applies to loss to, or accidents involving, **your insured motorcycle** while being transported between their ports.

PREMIUM

The premium for this policy is computed in accordance with **our** rules, rates, rating plans and minimum premiums applicable to the insurance afforded.

We have relied upon the information you provided to us to determine the amount you must pay us.

You agree to pay all additional premium due if this information is:

- 1. Incorrect;
- 2. Incomplete; or
- 3. Changes during the policy period.

PROOF OF MAILING

Proof of mailing of a notice is proof of notice.

SUIT AGAINST US

We may not be sued under any Part in this policy unless there is full compliance with all the terms of this policy. **We** may not be sued under the Part A: Liability until the obligation of an **insured** person to pay is fully determined either by final judgment against that person after actual trial or by written agreement of the claimant and **us**. No one shall have the right to make **us** a party to a suit to determine the liability of an insured person.

If **we** retain salvage, **we** have no duty to preserve or otherwise retain the salvage for any purpose, including evidence for any civil or criminal proceeding.

TWO OR MORE MOTORCYCLES INSURED

With respect to an accident or occurrence to which this and any other **motorcycle** policy **we** issue to **you** applies, the total limit of **our** liability under all policies shall not exceed the highest applicable limit under any one policy.

President

Secretary